












































































The Division of Corporation Finance cited this exact Commission statement in its June 22, 2010 

letter to BIEL.106 

Treating voluntary and mandatory filers consistently is in accord with other Commission 

staff guidance stating that Section 13 compliance is required whether an issuer was a voluntary 

registrant or mandatory registrant under Section 12(g): 

Question: A company that is not required to register a class of 
equity securities under Section 12(b) or Section 12(g) nevertheless 
voluntarily registers the class under Section 12(g). Since the 
registration of the securities under Section l 2(g) is voluntary, can 
the company later stop filing periodic and current reports without 
first deregistering the securities under the Exchange Act? 

Answer: No. Once a company registers a class of equity 
securities under Section l 2(g), it is required to file periodic and 
current reports, even if the registration of the securities under 
Section l 2(g) is voluntary. The only method provided by the 
Exchange Act and rules for such a company to properly cease 
filing periodic and current reports is to deregister the class of 
securities under the Exchange Act. 107 

BIEL thus was required to comply with the registration, boo~s and records, and internal 

control provisions mandated by Section 13. Having voluntarily opted to become a reporting 

company, and having taken full advantage of the benefits of such status-able to raise millions in 

capital and publicize its prospects and accomplishments to the world through public filings-

BIEL may not shirk the serious responsibilities incumbent upon a reporting company, as Section 

13 requires. 

IV. THE COMMISSION SHOULD ORDER DISGORGEMENT, PENALTIES, AND 
OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF AGAINST RESPONDENTS 

In determining whether sanctions should be imposed in the public interest, the 

Commission considers: the egregiousness of the actions; the isolated or recurrent nature of the 

106 DX 83 at 208. 
107 Exchange Act C&DI Question 116.02. 
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infractions; the degree of scienter involved; the sincerity of Respondents' assurances against 

future violation; Respondents' recognition of the wrongful nature of their conduct; and the 

likelihood that Respondents' occupation will present opportunities for future violations. 

Steadman v. SEC, 603 F.2d 1126, 1140 (5th Cir. 1979), aff'd on other grounds, 450 U.S .. 91 

(1981); Flannery and Hopkins, AP File No. 3-14081, 2014 SEC LEXIS 4981, *138 (Dec. 15, 

2014). The Commission also considers the extent to which a particular sanction will have a 

deterrent effect. Schield Mgmt. Co., AP File No. 3-11762, 58 S.E.C. 1197, 1217 (Jan. 31, 2006); 

Flannery, 2014 SEC LEXIS 4981, at *151. 

Here, Respondents' misconduct was egregious, involved willfulness, and occurred for at 

least five years (and very likely both precedes that date and continues to present). Neither 

Andrew nor Kelly Whelan offered any assurances against future violations or acknowledged the 

wrongful nature of their conduct. To the contrary, Respondents do not believe that there is 

anything improper about the way in which BIEL has systematically financed its operations 

through distributions to the public market in unregistered transactions or BIEL' s improper 

revenue recognition.108 

For their egregious violations of the securities laws, the ALJ' s Initial Decision orders 

Respondents to cease and desist from committing and causing any violations and disgorge a total 

of approximately $1,820,000 in ill-gotten gains, plus prejudgment interest. The Initial Decision 

also permanently bars Andrew and Kelly Whelan from participating in offerings of penny stock, 

and imposes civil penalties of $650,000 against St. John's and $130,000 against Andrew 

108 See Initial Dec. at 50 ("BIEL's poor financial condition, its need for outside funding, and the 
occupations of A. Whelan and K. Whelan all suggest not just a risk, but a strong likelihood of 
future violations in the absence of remedial sanctions."). 
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Whelan. 109 The ALJ' s conclusions were amply supported by the evidence, and the Division 

respectfully suggests that the Commission should reach a similar result on all grounds. 

A. The Evidence Supports the Disgorgement Imposed by the Initial Decision 

Exchange Act Section 21 C authorizes the Commission to order disgorgement, plus 

reasonable prejudgment interest. "[D]isgorgement need only be a reasonable approximation of 

the profits causally connected to the violation," and ''the well-established principle is that the 

burden of uncertainty in calculating ill-gotten gains falls on the wrongdoers who create the 

uncertainty." Zacharias, 569 F.3d at 473. With respect to Section 5 violations, the total 

"proceeds obtained from the illegal sale of ... unregistered securities" constitutes a fairly standard 

measure of profit from the illegal trading. Platforms Wireless, 617 F.3d at 1096-97; SECv. 

StratoComm Corp., 89 F. Supp. 2d 357, 367-70 (N.D.N.Y. 2015). Once the Division establishes 

a fair approximation of a disgorgement amount, the burden shifts to Respondents to show that 

the disgorgement amount is not a reasonable approximation of their total gain from the 

transactions. SECv. Video Without Boundaries, Inc., No. 08-cv-61517, 2010 WL 5790684, at *5 

(S.D. Fla. Dec. 8, 2010); see also First City Fin. Corp., Ltd, 890 F.2d 1215, 1232 (D.C. Cir. 

1989). 

The ALJ determined that the appropriate measure of disgorgement here is the difference 

between Respondents' total proceeds from sales of BIEL notes and shares during the Relevant 

Period and the acquisition costs of those shares. Based on this methodology, the ALJ held that 

IBEX's profit was $1,580,593 (proceeds of $4,296,266, less acquisition costs of$2,715,673), 

and that St. John's profit was $240,293.49 (proceeds of$397,196.70, less acquisition costs of 

109 Initial Dec. at I. 
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$156,903.49), all of which proceeds were reinvested in BIEL during the Relevant Period.110 The 

ALJ' s disgorgement finding is a conservative applicatiqn of the governing legal principles. On 

appeal, however, the Commission could find that the correct measure of clisgorgement is not 

proceeds less acquisition cost, but rather total proceeds. E.g., Platforms Wireless, 617 F.3d at 

1096-97. This is because both IBEX and St. John'sfandedtheir acquisitions ofBIEL notes and 

stock with ill-gotten gains, using funds received as a result of their Section 5 violations to make 

new "investments" in BIEL. Under this methodology, the Commission can and should order 

Respondents to make full disgorgement of$4,643,462.70, plus prejudgment interest. 

Respondents argue, however, that disgorgement should be even lower than the ALJ's 

Initial Decision, asserting that disgorgement should be: (1) limited to transactions completed 

within Section 2462 's 5-year statute of limitations, (2) reduced by any capital gains truces paid 

and the amount of interest that accrued on the BIEL notes that were sold, and (3) limited to the 

period of the so-called "scheme. " 111 Each of Respondents' arguments fails. 

First, in a decision Respondents ignore, the Commission has held unambiguously that 

Section 2462 's limitations provisions do not apply to disgorgement authorized under the 

Remedies Act. In re Larry P. Grossman, Release No. 10227, 2016 WL 5571616, at *16 (Sept. 

30, 2016) ("Exercising.our authority to interpret the term 'disgorgement' ... in the Remedies Act, 

we conclude that disgorgement is an equitable in personam remedy distinct from and not 

equivalent to what courts have held to be the punitive in rem sanction of 'forfeiture' to which 

Section 2462 applies."). The Commission's determination that disgorgement is an "equitable 

and non-punitive remedy" is supported by the "clear weight of authority." Id * 14 & n.13 8 

(citing cases). Further, the Commission expressly disagreed with, and declined to follow, the 

110 Initial Dec. at 55-56. 
111 Resp. Br. at 24-28. 
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Eleventh Circuit's decision in SEC v. Graham, 823 F.3d 1357 (I Ith Cir. 2016), on which 

Respondents exclusively rely .112 Respondents have offered no reason for the Commission to 

reconsider Grossman. 

Second, Respondents' assertion that disgorgement should be reduced by the amount of 

any capital gains taxes Respondents paid on the profits of their illegal sales of BIEL securities 

likewise contradicts settled Commission precedent. As the Commission has observed, "it is 

well-settled that disgorgement will not be reduced because the wrongdoer has paid an ordinary 

tax liability."113 

Finally, to the extent Respondents argue that the Commission should limit disgorgement 

to transactions that occurred in 2013 and 2014, under a "scheme to evade" theory of liability, that 

argument is misplaced. 114 The Division's Section 5 claim does not rest on a scheme to evade; 

there are multiple alternative grounds for finding that Respondents repeatedly violated Section 5 

during the Relevant Period, each of which warrants disgorgement. Second, although the 

Division's expert, Mr. Park, testified that Respondents' violations escalated in 2013 and 2014, 

he opined that the plan included all purchases and sales during the Relevant Period.115 

112 Grossman, 2016 WL 5571616 at*18 ("Based on our interpretation, we believe that 
the decisions in Kokesh and Riordan correctly held that disgorgement is not a "forfeiture' 
covered by Section 2462 and respectfully disagree with Graham's contrary conclusion and 
reasoning."). The Supreme Court will consider this issue this term. Kokesh v. SEC, No. 16-529 
(U.S. Jan. 13, 2017). 

113 Grossman, 2016 WL 5571616 at *23 ("Respondent must seek from the IRS, not us, 
any relief from the taxes he says he paid on the ill-gotten gains that we are ordering disgorged."). 

114 Resp. Br. at 24. 
115 Tr. at 137:14 (Park: "Based on my analysis, [the scheme] started in January 2010"). 
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The Commission should order disgorgement to be paid joint and severally116 by 

Respondents of$4,643,462.70, or-at a minimum-$1,820,000, plus prejudgment interest. 

B. The Evidence Supports the Third-Tier Civil Penalties Imposed by the ALJ 

In considering whether to impose civil penalties, the factors to consider include: (1) 

whether the violations involved fraud, deceit, manipulation, or reckless disregard of a regulatory 

requirement; (2) the harm caused to others; (3) the extent to which any person was unjustly 

enriched; (4) prior violations by Respondents; (5) the need for deterrence; and (6) such other 

matters as justice may require. 15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(d)(2)(C), 78u(d)(3)(B)(iii); StratoComm, 89 F. 

Supp. 3d at 371; SEC v. One or More Unknown Traders, 825 F. Supp. 2d 26, 33-34 (D.D.C. 

2010). Based on Respondents' "reckless disregard of regulatory requirements and substantial 

pecuniary gain," the ALJ determined that third-tier penalties would be appropriate against all 

Respondents. 117 After assessing Respondents' ability to pay, however (see Section IV.C, infra), 

the ALJ declined to order civil penalties against BIEL, IBEX, and Kelly Whelan, and instead 

imposed a single third-tier penalty each against Andrew Whelan and St. John's. 118 The ALJ's 

determination that Respondents' conduct warrants third-tier penalties is amply supported by the 

record. Indeed, the record supports a finding of dozens of separate violations by each of the 

116 Contrary to Respondents' assertion (Resp. Br. at 34-35), joint and several liability in 
securities cases is appropriate where, as here, ''two or more individuals or entities collaborate or 
have close relationships in engaging in the illegal conduct" SEC v. Whittemore, 659 F .3d 1, 9 
(D.C. Cir. 2011). After a showing of by the Division of such collaboration and closeness, the 
burden shifts to Respondents to show why liability should not be joint and several. Initial Dec. 
at 56. Respondents make no showing why or how the ill-gotten gains they collectively received 
should be apportioned. 

117 Initial Dec. at 58. Maximum penalties under Securities Act Section 20(d) and 
Exchange Act Section 2l(d)(3) may be for an amount not to exceed either the greater of 
$650,000 per violation for an entity and $130,000 for an individual. Adjustment of Civil Money 
Penalties-2005, 17 C.F.R. § 201.1004 (2009) & Table IV. 

118 Initial Dec. at 59. 
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Respondents. 119 Moreover, the ALJ's civil penalty award is substantially less than the total 

amount of Respondents' pecuniary gain, and therefore substantially less than the amount the ALJ 

could have imposed under the statute. Thus, the AU' s civil penalty award is already 

appropriately conservative and should not be further reduced. 

Respondents acted with reckless disregard for the regulatory requirements of Section 5, 

distributed a massive amount of BIEL shares to the market in unregistered transactions, and 

profited handsomely therefrom. Each of Respondents acted deliberately to further their Section 

5 violations. Among other key facts: (i) Andrew Whelan and BIEL sent dozens of letters to 

transfer agents and purchasers of BIEL shares, incorrectly assuring them that IBEX was not an 

affiliate and met the technical requirements of Rule 144; (ii) St. John's and Andrew Whelan 

engaged in self-dealing in order to parlay Andrew Whelan's salary into profit at the expense of 

the investing public; (iii) Kelly Whelan and IBEX "became very liquid" by selling BIEL notes 

and stock, and (iv) Kelly Whelan and IBEX deliberately worked around a purported DTC chill 

on distributions of BIEL stock to ensure BIEL shares still made their way to the investing public. 

When Respondents decided that the legal approach of complying with Commission rules and 

registering BIEL securities was too expensive, they intentionally worked together to fund BIEL's 

operations through sales of securities in unregistered transactions. 

The sheer volume of BIEL securities making their way into the hands of investors in 

unregistered transactions also evidences Respondents' callous disregard for the investing public 

and the securities laws. During the Relevant Period, the number of shares of BIEL in the market 

sky-rocketed-from 750 million to 7 billion. Indeed, although the OIP did not charge 

Respondents with fraud, there is substantial evidence that Respondents deliberately and 

119 DX I. 

36 



recklessly disregarded Section 5 's requirements, and that their misconduct resulted in 

"substantial losses or created a significant risk of losses to other persons" (e.g., innocent 

investors who purchased BIEL' s stock in 2009, only to see their share value plummet during the 

Relevant Period as the direct result of Respondents' distributions of BIEL securities in 

unregistered transactions). 

Respondents also experienced a "substantial pecuniary gain" from their misconduct. 

During the Relevant Period, Andrew Whelan and BIEL received from IBEX $4.2MM in loans 

that were the proceeds of IBEX' s distributions of BIEL securities. IBEX and Kelly Whelan went 

from a struggling company, founded on money from Kelly Whelan's 401K and credit-card 

advances, to a ''very liquid" state. Respondents are repeat offenders, having violated Section 5 

through dozens of transactions and also violated Section 13 and related rules in BIEL' s one and 

only Form 10-K filing. 

Under these circumstances, the evidence warrants the imposition of maximum civil 

penalties against all Respondents to deter them from future violations of the securities laws and 

in the interest of justice. 

C. Respondents Have Not Established Inability to Pay 

Under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, the Commission, in its discretion, may 

consider a respondent's "ability to pay" in assessing whether imposition of a sanction for 

violating the securities laws is in the public interest. 15 U.S.C. §§ 77h-l(g)(3), 78u-2(d); 

Commission Rule of Practice 630 [17 C.F.R. §240.630]. Although ability to pay is one factor for 

the Commission to consider, however, is not dispositive. Id 

After full consideration of Respondents' financial information, the ALJ concluded that 

Respondents, jointly and severally, have the ability to pay the full amount of disgorgement 
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ordered. The ALJ also held that Andrew Whelan and St. John's, whose principal, Patricia 

Whelan, is Andrew Whelan's wife, had the financial wherewithal to pay third-tier civil 

penalties.120 The ALJ declined, however, to impose civil penalties against either Kelly Whelan 

or IBEX, finding that-aside from BIEL notes, "which BIEL cannot pay and which are likely so 

illiquid as to be unmarketable"-neither owns any substantial assets. 121 The Division 

respectfully submits that the ALJ's assessment of these Respondents' financial wherewithal to 

pay disgorgement and third-tier civil penalties is reasonable, and need not be revisited in the 

exercise of the Commission's discretion. 

BIEL' s assertion that the disgorgement award, coupled with other sanctions imposed by 

the ALJ, ''threatens the survival ofBioElectronics" rings hollow, however. 122 BIEL, in 

substance, argues that if the Commission ends its ability to fund its day-to-day operations 

through distributions of its securities in unregistered transactions, then it may go out of business. 

But it is well-past time for BIEL to either prove that it can get legitimate arms' -length financing, 

or file a registration statement and provide investors with the transparency as to BIEL' s business 

to which they are entitled. Moreover, the evidence as to the impact that a substantial monetary 

sanction would have on BIEL is unclear. On the one hand, Respondents maintain that BIEL is 

not financially dependent on IBEX, has or could attract other lenders, has raised $3 3 million over 

the lifetime of the Company, and is "generating over $2 million annually."123 On the other hand, 

120 Initial Dec. at 57-58. The ALJ's decision was based, at least in part, on Andrew and 
Patricia Whelan's deficient financial disclosures. Id. at 58. Although Andrew and Patricia 
Whelan have submitted additional financial information in connection with this appeal, these 
belated submissions do not appear to demonstrate an inability to pay. 

121 Initial Dec. at 57 
122 Resp. Br. at 30. 
123 Tr. 858:12-14 (A. Whelan: "[T]he valuation of this company is a lot more than I think 

at the-than the 33 million."), 537:12-18, 857:20-22, 888:18-21. 
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Respondents argue that any payment by BIEL would be punitive and put the Company out of 

business. Further, even if Respondents were correct, the collateral consequences to BIEL' s bona 

fide investors of the Commission's sanctions are not the determining factor in evaluating 

whether sanctions in the public interest. 124 Thus, the Commission should, in its discretion, find 
. \ 

that inability to pay does not relieve Respondents of their duty to pay full disgorgement and 

third-tier civil penalties. 

V. LIKE THE ALJ, THE COMMISSION SHOULD REJECT RESPONDENTS' 
ARGUMENTS REGARDING ALLEGED RELIANCE ON COUNSEL 

Respondents contend that the ALJ improperly "struck the reliance on counsel defense" 

and refused to permit testimony on Respondents' alleged reliance.125 Respondents' arguments 

mischaracterize the ALJ' s decision and ignore governing law. The Commission should neither 

solicit additional evidence concerning reliance on counsel, nor give weight fo such evidence 

already in the record. 

First, the ALJ correctly held that Respondents are precluded from raising an affirmative 

reliance on counsel defens~.126 The Section 5 and Section 13 claims charged in the OIP are not 

124 E.g., Nature's.Sunshine Prods., Inc., Release No. 59268, 2009 WL 137145, at *8 
(Jan. 21, 2009) (discussing policy objectives of reporting requirements- "providing the public, 
particularly current and prospective shareholders, with material, timely, and accurate information 
about an issuer's business."). Cf Absolute Potential, Inc., Release No. 71866, 2014 WL 
10762214 (Apr. 4, 2014) ("In evaluating what is necessary or appropriate to protect investors, 
regard must be had not only for existing stockholders of the issuer, but also for potential 
investors. All investors in the marketplace, both current and prospective, were deprived of 
timely reports that accurately reflect the company's financial situation.")'(intemal quotation 
marks and citations omitted); Gateway Int'! Holdings, Inc., Release No. 53907, 2006 WL 
1506286, at *7 (May 31, 2006) ("[E]xisting shareholders may be harmed by an issuer's failure to 
have its financial statements audited. For example, in the absence of an audit, an existing 
shareholder could be forced to determine whether to sell his stock based on financial statements 
that give an inaccurate view of the issuer's financial situation."). 

125 Resp. Br. at 37-39. 
126 Initial Dec. at 49 (citing Schoemann, 2009 WL 3413043, *12); Tr. 919:4-6. 
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scienter-based. Thus, reliance on counsel, even if proven by a preponderance of the evidence, is 

not a defense.127 

Second, the ALJ correctly determined that Respondents failed to give proper notice and 

opportunity for cross examination as to their alleged reliance on counsel.128 Respondents did not 

produce any documents, nor identify any communications between Andrew Whelan and counsel 

to establish that Mr. Whelan or BIEL: ( 1) made a complete disclosure to counsel; (2) sought 

advice on the legality of the intended conduct; (3) received advice that the intended conduct was 

legal; and ( 4) relied in good faith on counsel's advice.129 Respondents also gave no prior notice 

to the ALJ or the Division that Andrew Whelan would testify concerning his communications 

with counsel, and did not call their attorneys to testify to allow for cross examination.130 And, 

perhaps most troublingly, Respondents did not waive their attorney-client privilege. 131 Thus, 

even ifthe Division had independently subpoenaed Respondents' counsel, the Division would 

not have been able to elicit pertinent information about the nature of their communications with 

127 SEC v. CMKM Diamonds, Inc., 129 F.3d 1248, 1257, n.6 (9th Cir. 2013) ("[W]e 
reaffirm that scienter is not an element of Section 5 liability .... [N]either a good faith belief that 
the offers or sales in question were legal, nor reliance on the advice of counsel, provides a 
complete defense to a charge of violating Section 5 of the Securities Act.") (citation omitted); 
SEC v. e-Smart Technologies, Inc., 82 F. Supp. 3d 97, 106 (D.D.C. 2015) (reliance on attorney's 
advice irrelevant for Section 13( d) violation "because scienter was not a required element") 
(citation omitted). 

128 Tr. 919:18-19 (ALJ: "I just think you're too little, too late, on this .... "). 
129 IMSICPAs & Assocs., Release No. 8031, Admin. File No. 3-9042, 2001 WL 

1359521,*l 1 (Nov. 5, 2001) ("Respondents do not contend that World's attorney reviewed any 
of the documents the accuracy of which is challenged here, much less that they requested, 
received, or relied on counsel's advice concerning the accuracy of their representations in those 
documents."). 

130 Tr. 25:1-4, 915:20-922:25. 
131 See RX 195H (Respondents asserting attorney-client privilege in correspondence with 

Division). 
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BIEL.132 

Finally, Respondents have not shown any harm or prejudice flowing from the ALJ' s 

evidentiary rulings. The attorney opinion letters to which Respondents cite on appeal are in 

evidence. 133 Indeed, the ALJ analyzed them, and found that the letters, "far from rebutting 

scienter, in some respects actually supports it," because the letters were so riddled with factual 

errors: 

This is b~cause Kuhne, who provided a large number of opinion 
letters, routinely advanced conclusions so unsupported and 
unbelievable that Respondents could not have relied on them in 
good faith, such as that: the Revolver was "executed and 
delivered" on January 1, 2005; BIEL had "au4ited financial 
records" for years when it did not; and all the shares St. John's' 
sold were "freely tradable and salable as a Brokers' Transaction," 
even though St. John's had identified no purchaser and was unable 
even to open a brokerage account at the time Kuhne rendered his 
opinion. 1 ~4 

Respondents have not explained how they could reasonably have relied on such factually 

erroneous opinion letters when deciding to distribute billions of shares of BIEL stock to the 

market in unregistered transactions. 

As for the purported advice from Kirkpatrick and Lockhart ("K&L") concerning BIEL' s 

· withdrawal of its Form SB-2 registration statements, again, Respondents have not linked any 

alleged advice from counsel to their violations of the Exchange Act. 135 Indeed, Respondents 

have not contended that K&L advised BIEL that it not need comply with the reporting 

132 Tr. 916:2-7 ("And then we have the K&L Gates, and unless there's been a waiver of 
privilege as to what happened with K&L Gates or Kirkpatrick & Lockhart, then you're really 
kind of sandbagging the Division at this point because they haven't had a chance to go and 
inquire."). 

133 Resp. Br. at 37-38 (citing Respondents' exhibits). 
134 Initial Dec. at 53. 
135 Initial Dec. at 51. 
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requirements of Section 13 (advice that would have been squarely wrong and in contrast to 

guidance given to BIEL by the Division of Corporation Finance); 136 that it need not keep 

accurate books and records; or that it had free rein to misstate sales revenue or issue false and 

misleading financial statements, without legal consequence or repercussion. Absent any link 

between counsel's alleged advice and the violative conduct at issue, Respondents' claims of error 

fail.137 

VI. THE ALJ DID NOT ERR IN LIMITING CHARACTER EVIDENCE 

Respondents next argue that the ALJ erroneously refused to consider character testimony 

offered by Messrs. Flood and Staelin on behalf of Mr. Whelan. 138 Once again, Respondents' 

arguments are legally and factually untenable. The ALJ did not erroneously limit character 

evidence, and in its de novo review, the Commission should neither solicit additional character 

evidence, nor give weight to such testimony already in the record. 

Respondents fail to connect the evidence they claim was wrongfully excluded to the 

holdings in the Initial Decision. As the ALJ correctly opined, the Commission's determination 

of civil penalties is based on the Steadman factors 139
- in particular, the egregious and repetitive 

nature of Respondents' misconduct, and the substantial harm to investors-not on the flaws in 

Mr. Whelan's character, if any.140 Respondents have cited to no authority that character 

evidence would be probative to mitigate sanctions iµ this case, rather than merely distracting. As 

former ALJ Kelly aptly observed: 

136 DX 83 at 65, DX 14 at 23. 
137 IMSICPAs, 2001WL1359521,*11. 
138 Resp. Br. at 39-41. 
139 "When considering whether an administrative sanction serves the public interest, the 

Commission analyzes the factors identified in Steadman .... " Initial Dec. at 49-50. 
140 Initial Dec. at 49-51. 
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Character evidence is of slight probative value and may be very 
prejudicial. It tends to distract the finder of fact from the main 
question of what actually happened on the particular occasion. It 
subtly permits the trier of fact to reward the good man and punish 
the bad man because of their respective characters, despite what 
the evidence in the case shows actually happened. 

HJ. Meyers & Co., Inc., Release No. 211,.2002 WL 1828078, *55, n.49 (Aug. 9, 2002). The 

Division did not directly attack Mr. Whelan's character or reputation at the hearing. Thus, the 

Commission should give no weight to evidence purportedly bolstering his character or 

reputation. 

VII. THE COMMISSION SHOULD GIVE NO WEIGHT TO THE EXPERT 
OPINIONS OF MESSRS. CUTLER, STAELIN, AND ROBINSON 

Respondents next contend that the ALJ abused his discretion 141 by failing to give weight 

to the opinions of three experts, Richard Staelin, Richard Cutler, and David Robinson. 142 

Respondents' arguments fail. The ALJ' s decisions with respect to these three experts were 

correct, and in its de novo review, the Commission should give no evidentiary weight to their 

reports or opinions. They do not represent proper expert testimony, are irrelevant to any 

disputed issues in the case, and are not rationally based on any specialized knowledge and 

expertise beyond the ken of a reasonable lay person.143 

First, Respondents proffered the testimony of a securities lawyer, Richard Cutler, 

concerning Section S's registration requirements. These opinions constitute improper legal 

expert testimony, and are unlikely to assist the Commission. As the ALJ aptly described, Mr. 

141 ALJs retain "broad discretion in determining whether to admit or exclude ... expert 
testimony." Thomas C. Gonnella, Release No. 1579 (July 2, 2014) (citing Scott G. Monson, 
Release No. 28323 (June 30, 2008)). 

142 Resp. Br. at 41. 
143 Initial Dec. at 31. 
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Cutler's report was akin to "a legal opinion letter in the form of an expert report."144 The 

Commission and courts consistently have held that expert testimony consisting of legal opinions 

is neither helpful nor admissible. IMSICPAs, 2001WL1359521,*10 (affirming preclusion of 

securities lawyer as legal expert); In re Robert D. Potts, CPA, Release No. 39126, 1997 WL 

690519, *I 0 & n.56 (Sept. 24, 1997) ("The testimony of expert witnesses on questions of law 

may be precluded, because adjudicators-courts and administrative law judges-are themselves 

qualified to determine and interpret the law.").145 As the D.C. Circuit has made clear, 'te]ach 

courtroom comes equipped with a 'legal expert,' called a judge, and it is his or her province 

alone to instruct the jury on the relevant legal standards." Burkhart v. Wash. Metro. Area 

Transit Auth., 112 F.3d 1207, 1213 (D.C. Cir. 1997). 

Second, Respondents proffered a three-page expert report of Dr. Richard Staelin, ~e sole 

independent member of BIEL' s Board and a percipient fact witness, on the question of 

"corporate control." Even setting aside the clear issue of bias-Mr. Staelin is financially 

interested in the outcome of this case-Mr. Staelin's report is inadmissible on numerous other 

grounds. As an initial matter, there is nothing in Mr. Staelin's background or his expert report 

suggesting that he has any specialized knowledge or expertise concerning the question of 

corporate control under Rule 144, the question relevant to this case. 146 Moreover, Mr. Staelin's 

144 Initial Dec. at 31. Respondents criticize the ALJ for allowing the SEC's expert, 
William Park, to opine on issues of law. Resp. Br. at 41. This is incorrect. The ALJ afforded 
these portions of Mr. Park's opinions no weight. Tr. 238-39; Initial Dec. at 27-28, 47 ("[T]o the 
extent Park opined on the issue of control, I have also disregarded his expert evidence."). 

145 Citing United States v. Bilzerian, 926 F.2d 1285, 1294 (2d Cir. 1991) (an expert may 
not ''usurp either the role of the trial judge in instructing the jury as to the applicable law or the 
role of the jury in applying that law to the facts before it")). 

146 Because the ALJ determined that he would place no weight on Mr. Staelin's expert 
testimony, the Division did not examine Mr. Staelin on his expert qualifications or the opinions 
offered in his report. Mr. Staelin admitted during his investigative testimony, however, that he is 
not a securities expert and is unfamiliar with Rule 144. 
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opinions are unconnected to any disputed issue. The question before the Commission is not one 

of corporate power and control generally, but rather whether IBEX "directly, or indirectly 

through one or more intermediaries, controls or is controlled by or is under common control 

with, such issuer." 17 C.F.R. § 230.144.147 That is the ultimate question to be answered by the 

Commission based on the factual record, and one that the Commission can readily answer on de 

novo review. The Commission therefore has no need to seek guidance on this question from a 

purported expert, particularly where the "expert" is also a percipient witness and interested party. 

Third, Respondents proffered the two-page expert report of Dr. David Robinson, another 

Duke professor, on IBEX's purported incentives for purchasing promissory notes from BIEL at a 

discounted rate. Nothing in Dr. Robinson's report is particularly surprising, informative, or 

useful to the Commission's determination whether IBEX is entitled to the protections of Section 

4(a)(l) or Rule 144's safe harbor. Moreover, Dr. Robinson did not perform any analysis of the 

facts and circumstances surrounding IBEX's sale of 3.5 billion shares of BIEL stock in 

unregistered transactions. Nor did Dr. Robinson analyze whether IBEX had "ample profit 

incentive" to. do, or refrain from doing, the many actions detailed by the Whelans during their 

testimony, such as returning nearly all sales proceeds back to BIEL, subordinating IBEX' s lien in 

BIEL to another lender for no consideration, 148 never calling in or foreclosing on a note, 149 and 

paying vendors and creditors on behalf ofBIEL.150 Dr. Robinson's report is thus of no value to 

the Commission's determination of liability or remedies in this action. 

147 Initial Dec. at 44 (citing cases); id at 47 ("Staelin's expert report was limited to 
analyzing the legal question of control."). 

148 Initial Dec. at 46. 
149 Tr. 569:14-70:1, 1255:6-1256:2. 
150 Initial Dec. at 45. 
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CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the Division respectfully requests that the Commission 

uphold the ALJ's Initial Decision and issue an order in favor of the Division and against 

Respondents. 

Dated: May 1, 2017 Respectfully submitted, 

t~w.I~ 
Charles D. Stodghill (202) 551-4413 
Paul W. K.isslinger (202) 551-4427 
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Thomas B. Rogers (202) 551-4776 
Securities and Exchange Commission 
I 00 F Street, N .E. 
Washington, D.C. 20549 
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I hereby certify that the Division of Enforcement's Opposition to Respondents' Brief in 

Support of Appeal to the Commission complies with the length limitations of SEC Rule of 

Practice 450( c ). I further certify that this brief was prepared using Microsoft Word and that the 

word count for the document, exclusive of pages containing the table of contents, table of 

authorities, and any addendum that consists solely of copies of applicable cases, pertinent 

legislative provisions or rules, and exhibits, is 13,949 words. 
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